

Amended Bylaws
LUKE CHAPTER, MOAA
Military Officers Association of America

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
Article I – Name	1
Article II – Purposes	1
Article III – Status	2
Article IV – Membership	3
Article V – Voting	4
Article VI – Dues	4
Article VII – Membership Meetings	5
Article VIII – Board of Directors	5
Article IX – Officers	7
Article X – Committees	8
Article XI – Fiduciary Matters and Conflicts of Interest	8
Article XII- Whistleblower Protection	10
Article XIII – Amendments	11
Article XIV – The Flag	11

Article I – Name

The name of this corporation shall be “LUKE CHAPTER, Military Officers Association of America,” an Arizona nonprofit corporation, hereinafter referred to as the “Chapter.” The Chapter shall be an affiliate of the national organization known as the “Military Officers Association of America,” hereinafter referred to as “National.” The Chapter is also an affiliate of the Arizona Council of Chapters.

Article II – Purposes

The purposes of the Chapter, including purposes as stated in the Articles of Incorporation, shall be to:

- (a) To promote the social welfare of the community and the nation;
- (b) To educate and train Chapter officers, and encourage camaraderie and foster fraternal relations among active, retired and former officers of the eight uniformed services (Army, Navy, Air Force, Space Force, Marine Corps, Coast Guard, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration and Public Health Service), and their National Guard and Reserve components;
- (c) To assist disabled and financially needy veterans and members of the U.S. Armed Forces and their dependents, and the widows and orphans of deceased veterans;
- (d) To provide entertainment, care and assistance to hospitalized veterans and members of the Armed Forces and to comfort their survivors;

- (e) To carry on programs to perpetuate the memory of deceased veterans and members of the Armed Forces and to comfort their survivors;
- (f) To support high school JROTC, and college ROTC programs and other local, state or national military programs;
- (g) To protect the rights and interest of present and future active duty, retired, National Guard and Reserve personnel of the uniformed services and their dependents and survivors, including support for legislation favorable and beneficial to members, spouses and survivors of all military personnel;
- (h) To conduct programs for religious, charitable, scientific, literary, or educational purposes;
- (i) To provide useful services for Chapter Members, their dependents and survivors;
- (j) To sponsor or participate in activities of a patriotic nature;
- (k) To promote the purposes and objectives of the Military Officers Association of America; and
- (l) To engage in any and all lawful activities incidental to the foregoing purposes except as restricted herein.

Article III – Status

Section 1: The Chapter shall be a nonprofit corporation under Title 10, Chapter 24 through 42, Arizona Revised Statutes, and operated exclusively for the purposes specified in Article II above. In addition, the Chapter is organized and shall be operated exclusively as a “veterans’ organization” within the meaning of section 501(c)(19) of the Internal Revenue Code.

Section 2: The Chapter’s officers, directors, and appointed officials, and Regular, Surviving Spouse, or Honorary Members, shall not receive any stated compensation for their services, but the Board of Directors, hereinafter referred to as the Board, authorizes the Chapter Treasurer to reimburse them for expenses incurred in the performance of their duties and as approved by the Board.

Section 3: Nothing herein shall constitute members of the Chapter as partners for any purpose. No member, officer or agent of the Chapter shall be liable for acts or failure to act on the part of any other member, officer, or agent. Nor shall any member, officer or agent be liable for acts or failure to act under these Bylaws, excepting only acts or failure to act arising out of willful misfeasance or malfeasance.

Section 4: The Chapter shall indemnify any person against expenses, including without limitation attorneys’ fees, judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement, actually and reasonably incurred by reason of the fact that he/she is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the Chapter, or is or was serving at the request of the Chapter as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, in all circumstances in which, and to the extent that, such indemnification is specifically permitted and provided for by the laws of the state of Arizona as then in effect. Indemnification will not be made when the director, officer, or employee is adjudged guilty of willful misfeasance or malfeasance in the performance of duties. The power of indemnification under state law shall not be denied or limited by the Bylaws.

Section 5: The Chapter shall use its funds only to accomplish the purposes specified in Article II and in Article III, Section 1 above, and no part of said funds shall be distributed to members, except for reimbursement to Chapter officers and officials described in Article III, Section 2 above.

Section 6: In the event of dissolution of Chapter and after the discharge of all liabilities, the remaining assets shall be given to a nonprofit organization as provided in the Articles of Incorporation, Article II, Section 2.3(c), and whose purposes and objectives are similar to those of the Chapter, such organization to be designated by a majority vote of the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE IV — Membership

Section 1: Subject to the provisions hereof, membership shall be composed of:

(a) Men and women who are or have been officers — that is, commissioned officers, commissioned warrant officers, and warrant officers — of the regular, reserve, National Guard of the United States, and other components of the Army, Navy, Air Force, Space Force, Marine Corps, Coast Guard, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, and Public Health Service.

(b) Widows and widowers of deceased members or of any deceased individual who would, if living, be eligible for membership.

(c) Individuals elected as Honorary “Members” as set forth in Section 2(c) of this Article.

Section 2: Membership shall be of three classes, as follows:

(a) Regular Members: Those eligible for membership, as prescribed in Section 1(a) of this Article, who apply for membership and pay the prescribed annual dues.

(b) Surviving Spouse Members: Widows and widowers of deceased Regular members or of any deceased individual who would, if living, have been eligible for membership.

(c) Honorary “Members”: Individuals who in recognition of their friendship to, support of or service to the Chapter, to the retired or active-duty officer community, or to the nation on the initiative of the Board of Directors, may be elected Honorary “Members” of the Association. In addition, officers or former officers of NATO and ANZUS Pact countries may be elected as Honorary “Members.” This category of membership is intended to grant respect and appreciation to selected individuals, and not substantive membership in the Chapter. The Board of Directors shall have authority to terminate an honorary membership. Honorary “Members” shall not be entitled to vote on any matter, are not required to pay dues, and may not serve as an officer of the Chapter or director on the Board of Directors. Honorary “Members” are not “members” subject to the requirements and limitations of IRS Section 501(c)(19) for veterans’ organizations.

Section 3: Application for membership shall be in writing or through the Chapter website to the Board of Directors. The applicant shall complete the form of Membership Application posted on the chapter website or on the paper form. The Chapter will duly record the information provided in the Chapter website roster for future reference by the membership.

Section 4: The Board of Directors may reject any application for membership for cause. The applicant will be notified of the rejection and the reason therefore. No person shall be admitted to membership in the Chapter if doing so would cause the Chapter not to comply with the requirements and limitations of IRS Section 501(c)(19) for veterans' organizations. Appropriate records shall be maintained by the Membership Director and Secretary to evidence compliance with such requirements and limitations.

Section 5: Any member may be dropped by the Board of Directors for good cause, after being first given an opportunity to be heard.

Section 6: Regular Members and Surviving Spouse Members are encouraged to hold and maintain membership in the national MOAA organization.

Article V – Voting

Section 1: Except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws, all questions coming before the membership shall be decided by a majority vote.

Section 2: Only Regular and Surviving Spouse Members present and in good standing at a meeting of the Chapter shall be entitled to vote on any matter properly submitted to the membership for vote. Only such Members are entitled to to serve as a Director on the Board of Directors. Good standing requires that Chapter dues are paid for the current fiscal year.

Section 3: Proxy voting shall not be permitted at any meeting of the Chapter, including both membership and Board of Director meetings.

Article VI – Dues

Section 1: Annual dues are reviewed and determined by the Board. If deemed necessary, a motion may be made, seconded and passed to increase or decrease the annual dues, or set different amounts for dues depending upon the date the member joins the Chapter.

Section 2: The annual dues for the Chapter's fiscal year beginning July 1st shall become due on July 1st and are delinquent if unpaid by December 31st of that year.

Section 3: Members who fail to pay their dues within 60 days from the time they become due shall be notified on or about December 1st by the Membership Chairman by individual letters sent to the member's most recent address.

Section 4: The Membership Chair may, without further notice and further hearing, drop any member from the rolls for nonpayment of dues. The member shall thereupon forfeit all rights and privileges of membership.

Section 5: Any member who has been dropped for nonpayment of dues may be reinstated upon reapplication for membership and payment of the annual dues.

Article VII – Membership Meetings

Section 1: There shall be an annual meeting of the Chapter during the month of April for the receipt of annual reports, the announcement of annual dues for the next fiscal year, the election of officers and directors, and the transaction of other business as may properly be brought before the meeting. Notice and purpose of the annual meeting shall be mailed or emailed to the Chapter's roster address of each Regular and Surviving Spouse Member at least 15 days in advance of the meeting date, and in accordance with Arizona law. Alternatively, notice of the annual meeting may be provided in the then current issue of the NewsGram mailed or emailed to the roster address of such Members.

Section 2: Regular meetings of the Chapter shall be held during the months of October through May unless otherwise decided by the Board of Directors. Notices will be placed in the monthly NewsGram and on the Website of monthly meetings at least 15 days in advance of the date of any meeting, except for special meetings (see Section 3 below).

Section 3: Special meetings of the Chapter may be called by the President. Notice of any special meeting shall be mailed or emailed to each member at least 15 days in advance of said meeting, stating the date, time, place, and subject(s) to be considered by the membership.

Section 4: Twenty percent of all Regular and Surviving Spouse Members qualified to vote at any meeting of the Chapter shall constitute a quorum (see Article V, Section 2 for qualifications).

Section 5: The guidelines contained in the current edition of ROBERT'S RULES OF ORDER shall, at the discretion of the Chairman of the Board, guide the conduct and resolve any disputes that may arise, in all cases to which they are applicable and in which they are not inconsistent with these Bylaws and any special rules of order the Chapter may have adopted prior to a meeting.

Article VIII – Board of Directors

Section 1: The Board shall be composed of a minimum of six and not more than twenty-five members. Directors of the Board shall be the Immediate Past President, and the elected officers, who are: President, who shall also be the Chairman, 1st Vice President, 2nd Vice President, Secretary, and Treasurer. In addition, the Board may include directors at large elected by the members or as appointed by the President. As deemed appropriate and necessary by the President, Co-Secretaries and Co-Treasurers may be elected as officers and to the Board. The Chapter shall use the organizational structure recommended by National as guidance to organize, control, and give direction to the management team in accordance with the Organizational Chart shown in the

current National Chapter Handbook and follow the leadership roles described for the Board, all Chapter Officers, Chaplain, and Surviving Spouse Liaison Officer.

Section 2: The elected officers, who are also directors, shall be elected annually by the membership at the annual meeting. Additional directors at large may be elected or appointed by the President. Each officer, director or other official appointees who have agreed to serve for the ensuing year shall be installed at the regular May meeting of the Chapter taking office effective upon commencement of the fiscal year on July 1, and serve for a term of one year. Directors or other official appointees, after agreeing to accept appointment by the Chapter President and approved by the Board, shall be installed by the President or any other current director on the Board using the appropriate oath of office at Board meetings or at meetings of the membership.

Section 3: The Board shall have supervision, control, and direction of the affairs of the Chapter; shall determine its policies or changes therein within the limits of the Bylaws; shall actively prosecute its purposes and shall have discretion in the disbursement of its funds. It may adopt such rules and regulations for the conduct of its business as may be deemed advisable and may, in the execution of the powers granted, appoint such agents, as it may consider necessary.

Section 4: The Board shall not be authorized to engage in partisan political activity or adopt resolutions or to establish positions on or provide financial or other support to candidates for public office in the name of the Chapter. However, the Chapter may lobby or adopt resolutions or establish positions on pending legislation, community or public issues and similar topics in the name of the Chapter.

Section 5: The Board shall meet in regular meetings upon the call of the President at such times and places as the President may designate. Formal written notice of the next regular meeting of the Board of Directors shall not be required but shall normally be announced at the previous Board meeting. The Board shall be called to meet in a special meeting upon demand of the President, or by a majority of its members. All members of the Board shall be notified by phone, e-mail, or in writing at least three business days in advance of such special meeting stating the date, time, location, and subject of the meeting.

Section 6: A majority of the currently serving directors of the Board shall constitute a quorum at any meeting of the Board.

Section 7: All questions coming before the Board shall be decided by a majority vote, with each voting member of the Board present being entitled to one vote. Proxy voting shall not be permitted.

Section 8: The Chapter is the sole Member of the Luke Chapter MOAA Community Fund, Inc. ("the Community Fund"), an Arizona nonprofit corporation and public charity under IRS Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. The Chapter is designated as the sole Member of the Community Fund in its amended and restated Articles of Incorporation. The Board of Directors of this Chapter shall appoint and elect the directors and principal officers of the Community Fund and exercise the authorities and responsibilities set forth in Article II-Members, of the Bylaws of the Community Fund and elsewhere in said Bylaws.

Article IX – Officers

Section 1: The elected officers shall be a President, a 1st Vice President, 2nd Vice President, , Secretary, and Treasurer, each of whom shall be a Regular or Surviving Spouse Member. As deemed appropriate and necessary, “co” officers may be elected for the Secretary and Treasurer positions. With the sole exception of the Treasurer of the Chapter, officers of the Chapter shall be Regular Members or Surviving Spouse Members of the Chapter. Officers for other non-elected positions may be appointed by the President as he/she determines appropriate, subject to approval by resolution of the Board. The officers of the Chapter shall perform the duties and responsibilities of their positions as set forth and described in these Bylaws and in the Operating Handbook of the Chapter.

Section 2: The elected officers shall be elected annually by the membership at the annual meeting of the Chapter Membership in April of each year. Each elected officer shall be installed as a Chapter Officer at the regular May meeting each year, to serve a term of one year effective and commencing upon July 1 of each year.

Section 3: Normally, a member shall not serve more than two consecutive terms (or more than two years in total) as President; however, this provision may be waived if there are no volunteers to assume the office and the member agrees and the Board of Directors concur in having the member serve another term or serve beyond two years.

Section 4: A vacancy in the office of the President shall be filled automatically by the 1st Vice President. A vacancy in the office of the 1st Vice President shall be filled automatically by the 2nd Vice President. Vacancies in other offices shall be filled as the Board of Directors may decide.

Section 5: The Chapter President shall be the chief elected officer and Chairman of the Board, shall preside at meetings of the Chapter and of the Board and shall be a member ex-officio, with right to vote, of all committees except the nominating committee. The President shall also, at the annual meeting and at such other times as might be deemed proper, communicate to the Board and/or to the Chapter members such information or such proposals that would in his/her opinion tend to promote the welfare and purposes of the Chapter. Further, the President shall perform such other duties as are necessarily incident to the office of the President.

Section 6: In the event of the President’s temporary disability or absence, the Immediate Past President shall, if willing and able to do so, temporarily perform the duties of the President until the President’s disability or absence is resolved or a new president is elected by the Members. If the Immediate Past President is unwilling or unable to perform such duties, the 1st Vice President shall perform the duties of the President.

Section 7: The Secretary shall provide timely written notification of all meetings of the Chapter and of the Board of Directors and shall maintain a record of all proceedings. The Secretary also shall carry out these duties: prepare minutes for each Board meeting, prepare such correspondence

as might be required, maintain the Chapter's correspondence files, and safeguard all important records, documents and valuable equipment belonging to the Chapter. Further, the Secretary shall perform such other duties as are commensurate with the office or as might be assigned by the Board of Directors or by the President.

Section 8: The Treasurer shall maintain a record of all sums received and expended by the Chapter; collect the members' annual dues, make such disbursements as are authorized by the Chapter or the Board of Directors, deposit all sums received in a financial institution approved by the Board of Directors, and make a financial report at the annual meeting or when called upon by the President. Funds may be drawn from the account in the financial institution only upon the signature of the Treasurer or of the President. The funds, books, and vouchers in the custody of the Treasurer shall at all times be subject to inspection and verification by the Board of Directors or audit committee.

Article X – Committees

Section 1: The President, subject to the approval of the Board, shall annually appoint standing and special committees such as might be required by the Bylaws or deemed necessary by the Board of Directors.

Section 2: The standing committees of the Chapter shall consist of a finance committee, a membership committee, a program committee, a legislative committee, an audit committee, a leadership succession and nominating committee, and a strategic planning committee.

Section 3: Each year at the regular January Board Meeting or at least 90 days before the annual meeting, the President shall appoint a nominating committee, approved by the Board, consisting of up to three Regular Members or Surviving Spouse Members, to nominate candidates for elective offices. The committee shall notify the Secretary in writing, at least 10 days before the March Board meeting in order to meet the deadline to announce its slate of officers and directors for the next ensuing year and give notice for the Annual Meeting of the membership to the members, such notice to include any changes in dues or proposed amendments to the Bylaws.

Section 4: An audit committee shall conduct a financial review (not a formal audit) of the Treasurer's records. The audit committee shall consist of at least two Board Directors who are not allowed to sign checks or transfer funds, and who shall be appointed by the President and approved by the Board. If needed and authorized by the Board, the audit committee may engage the services of an outside accountant to support the financial review. The financial review shall be conducted no later than 15 October of each year or within 30 days after the change of Treasurers, except when a new Treasurer is installed as a new officer in May. In this case, the outgoing Treasurer shall close the Chapter's books on 30 June and the incoming Treasurer shall reopen the books on 1 July of that year. In the discretion of the Board, a formal audit by outside accounting personnel may be authorized at any time.

Article XI – Fiduciary Matters and Conflicts of Interest

Section 1: General Standards of Conduct for Directors and Officers.

(a) Discharge of Duties. Each director shall discharge the director’s duties as a director, including the director’s duties as a member of a committee of the board, and each officer with discretionary authority shall discharge the officer’s duties under that authority:

- (i) in good faith;
- (ii) with the care an ordinarily prudent person in a like position would exercise under similar circumstances; and
- (iii) in a manner the director or officer reasonably believes to be in the best interests of the Chapter.

(b) Reliance on Information, Reports, etc. In discharging duties, a director or officer is entitled to rely on information, opinions, reports or statements, including financial statements and other financial data, if prepared or presented by:

- (i) one or more officers or employees of the Chapter whom the director or officer reasonably believes to be reliable and competent in the matters presented; and
- (ii) legal counsel, a public accountant or another person as to matters the director or officer reasonably believes are within such person’s professional or expert competence. A director or officer is not acting in good faith if the director or officer has knowledge concerning the matter in question that makes reliance otherwise permitted by this Section 1(b) unwarranted.

(c) Liability to the Chapter or Its Members. A director or officer shall not be liable as such to the Chapter or its members for any action taken or omitted to be taken as a director or officer, as the case may be, if, in connection with such action or omission, the director or officer performed the duties of the position in compliance with this section.

(d) Limitation on Compensation. No member of the Chapter may receive compensation for services rendered in support of the activities of the Chapter from nonmembers or outside sources without approval of the Board. This includes merchandise, services, benefits, or rebates from vendors providing services or merchandise to the Chapter that are not provided to every member. This does not preclude reimbursement of actual expenses or reasonable compensation to Chapter members from the Chapter funds for services rendered. Further, this does not preclude discounts to members for merchandise or services that are provided equally to all members or all participants in a particular activity sponsored by the Chapter.

(e) Chapter Debts. Debts of the Chapter shall be satisfied prior to any dissolution of the Chapter. See the Articles of Incorporation for the Chapter for further provisions in the event of dissolution of the Chapter.

Section 2: Conflicts of Interest.

(a) Definition. A conflict of interest arises when any “responsible person” or any “party related to a responsible person” has an “interest adverse to the Chapter.” A “responsible person” is any individual in a position to exercise substantial influence over the affairs of the Chapter, and specifically includes, without limitation, directors and officers of the Chapter. A “party related to a responsible person” includes his or her extended family (including spouse, ancestors, descendants and siblings, and their respective spouses and descendants), an estate or trust in which the responsible person or any member of his or her extended family has a beneficial interest or a fiduciary responsibility, or an entity in which the responsible person or any member of his or her extended family is a director, trustee or officer or has a financial interest. “An interest adverse to

the Chapter” includes any interest in any contract, transaction or other financial relationship with the Chapter, and any interest in an entity whose best interests may be impaired by the best interests of the Chapter, including, without limitation, an entity providing any goods or services to or receiving any goods or services from the Chapter, an entity in which the Chapter has any business or financial interest, and an entity providing goods or services or performing activities similar to the goods or services or activities of the Chapter.

(b) Disclosure. If a responsible person is aware that the Chapter is about to enter into any transaction or make any decision involving a conflict of interest (a “conflicting interest transaction”), such person shall:

(i) immediately inform those charged with approving the conflicting interest transaction on behalf of the Chapter of the interest or position of such person or any party related to such person;

(ii) aid the persons charged with making the decision by disclosing any material facts within the responsible person’s knowledge that bear on the advisability of the Chapter entering into the conflicting interest transaction; and

(iii) not be entitled to vote on the decision to enter into such transaction.

(c) Approval of Conflicting Interest Transactions. The Chapter may enter into a conflicting interest transaction, provided either:

(i) The material facts regarding the responsible person’s relationship or interest and regarding the conflicting interest transaction are disclosed or are known to the Board, and the Board authorizes, approves or ratifies the conflicting interest transaction by the affirmative vote of a majority of the disinterested directors on the Board, even though the disinterested directors are less than a quorum; or

(ii) The material facts regarding the responsible person’s relationship or interest and regarding the conflicting interest transaction are disclosed or are known to the members, and the conflicting interest transaction is specifically authorized, approved, or ratified in good faith by a vote of the members entitled to vote thereon; or

(iii) The conflicting interest transaction is fair with respect to the Chapter.

Article XII-Whistleblower Protection

Section 1: Officers, directors, members and employees (if any) are encouraged to raise good faith concerns regarding any suspected violations of law on the part of the Chapter. to cooperate in an inquiry or investigation by a court, agency, law enforcement, or other governmental body, or to identify potential violations of the Chapter’s policies, Articles of Incorporation, or Bylaws.

Section 2: The Chapter will maintain a workplace where officers, directors, members and employees (if any) are free to raise good faith concerns regarding the business practices of the Chapter, specifically with regard to:

(a) reporting suspected violations of law on the part of the Chapter, including but not limited to federal or state laws and regulations;

(b) providing truthful information in connection with an inquiry or investigation by a court, agency, law enforcement, or other governmental body; and

(c) identifying potential violations of the Chapter’s bylaws and policies.

If any officer, director, member or employee (if any) reasonably believes that some policy, practice or activity of the Chapter is in violation of law, a written complaint should be filed by that person with the President of the Chapter, Secretary, Compliance Director, or any director of the Board of Directors.

Section 3: The Chapter shall in good faith use reasonable diligence to adhere to all laws and regulations that apply to the organization. An officer, director, member or employee (if any) is protected from retaliation if that person brings the alleged unlawful activity, policy, or practice to the attention of the Chapter, and provides the Chapter with a reasonable opportunity to investigate and correct the unlawful activity. The protection described below is only available to officers, directors, members and employees (if any) that comply with this requirement.

Section 4: The Chapter shall not retaliate against an officer, director, member or employee (if any) who in good faith has made a protest or raised a complaint against some practice of the Chapter, or against any officer or director, or of another individual or entity with whom the Chapter has a business relationship, on the basis of a reasonable belief that the practice is in violation of law, or a clear mandate of public policy.

Section 5: The Chapter shall not retaliate against an officer, director, member or employee (if any) who discloses or threatens to disclose to a supervisor or public body, any activity, policy, or practice of the Chapter that the person reasonably believes is in violation of a law, or a rule, or regulation mandated pursuant to law or is in violation of a clear mandate of public policy concerning the health, safety, welfare or protection of the environment.

Article XIII – Amendments

The Bylaws may be amended, repealed, or altered in whole or in part by either:

(a) the Board of Directors of the Chapter by a majority vote in the regular course of business at a Board meeting; or

(b) by a majority vote of the members present and qualified to vote at any annual, regular or special meeting of the Chapter, provided that the date and time of said meeting to amend the Bylaws along with a copy of any amendment proposed for consideration or a summary of the proposed amendments, shall be mailed or e-mailed to each member qualified to vote at least 15 days before the meeting. The Chapter also will provide a copy of the proposed amended Bylaws to the members requesting it who are present at the scheduled meeting. After review by the membership, the proposed amendment to the Bylaws will be voted upon.

Article XIV – The Flag

The American Flag and Luke Chapter Flag shall be displayed and honored at all meetings of the Chapter and the Board.

CERTIFICATE OF ADOPTION

This is to certify that these amended Bylaws were approved and adopted Board of Directors of Luke Chapter, Military Officers Association of America, at a regularly scheduled meeting of the Board in Goodyear, Arizona, on April 6, 2023

_____/s/_____
MAJ Eugene Wikle, USA (Ret)
President

_____/s/_____
COL Michael Kramer, USAFR (Ret)
Secretary